RECEIVED

Feb 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000739

Dorothy Pierce Appellant,

V.

Jerry Edwards, Edwards Group Holdings, Inc., Edwards Printing, Respondent McDuff; MJM Law, LLC; Riley Morningstar; The Journal Newspaper; Hal Welch..... Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dated February 5, 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents despite substantial evidence demonstrating their direct role in defamation.
2. Whether the Circuit Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Respondents Despite Substantial Evidence Demonstrating Their Direct Role in Tortious Interference with Appellant's Business.
3. Whether the Circuit Court violated South Carolina law and Appellant's due process rights by signing the April 2, 2024, summary judgment order without allowing Appellant to review or object to the draft order before its entry.
4. Whether the Circuit Court erred in disregarding material factual disputes, improperly resolving contested facts in favor of Respondents, and thereby violating Appellant's constitutional right to a jury trial.
5. Whether the Circuit Court misapplied the law by ruling that Respondents' defamatory statements were not actionable despite evidence showing that Respondents knowingly published false accusations of criminal conduct against Appellant, constituting defamation per se.
6. Whether the Circuit Court erred in ruling that Appellant lacked standing to bring a claim for tortious interference with business relationships, despite evidence that Appellant personally funded and controlled the advertising contract in question.
7. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing Appellant's contractual interference claim on the basis that the contract was in the name of Appellant's single-member LLC, despite South Carolina law recognizing standing in cases of direct financial and reputational harm.
8. Whether the Circuit Court failed to properly analyze Respondents' role in pressuring The Journal to terminate Appellant's advertisements, resulting in a direct loss of business opportunities and financial damages to Appellant.
9. Whether the Circuit Court erred in disregarding evidence that Respondents, particularly Richard McDuff, used improper influence to sabotage Appellant's advertising campaign and professional relationships, thereby engaging in tortious interference.
10. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that Appellant failed to establish a causal connection between Respondents' actions and her business losses, despite substantial

evidence demonstrating that Respondents' conduct directly led to lost contracts, revenue, and reputational harm.

11. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment without considering the cumulative impact of Respondents' conduct, including their concerted efforts to defame, discredit, and financially cripple Appellant.
12. Whether the Circuit Court improperly upheld claims of attorney-client privilege to shield key discovery materials, despite evidence showing that Respondent McDuff had no privileged relationship with The Journal or its reporters.
13. Whether the Circuit Court erred in failing to compel the disclosure of communications between McDuff and The Journal, which contained critical evidence regarding McDuff's role in the defamatory publications.
14. Whether the Circuit Court erred in refusing to consider evidence demonstrating that Respondents acted with actual malice and reckless disregard for the truth when publishing defamatory statements against Appellant.
15. Whether the Circuit Court improperly failed to rule on Appellant's pending discovery motions, including motions to compel and motions to strike hearsay evidence, before granting summary judgment.
16. Whether the Circuit Court misapplied South Carolina summary judgment standards by prematurely granting summary judgment despite the existence of multiple genuine issues of material fact that should have been decided by a jury.
17. Whether the Circuit Court erred in ignoring Appellant's evidence proving financial damages, lost business contracts, and the termination of advertising agreements directly caused by Respondents' unlawful actions.
18. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that Appellant's defamation and business interference claims were speculative, despite Appellant's submission of sworn affidavits, business records, and third-party statements corroborating her claims.
19. Whether the Circuit Court's ruling, which shielded Respondents from liability despite overwhelming evidence of their coordinated efforts to harm Appellant, constitutes an abuse of discretion requiring reversal on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 114-15, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). In determining whether summary judgment is proper, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* at 115, 410 S.E.2d at 545.

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Id.* at 112, 410 S.E.2d at 543. However, the nonmoving party must show a likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence and that the request for discovery is not merely a 'fishing expedition.' *Id.* at 112, 410 S.E.2d at 544.

In South Carolina, appellate courts apply the same standard as the trial court when reviewing a grant of summary judgment, determining whether there are no genuine issues of material fact and viewing all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Ctr. & Psychiatric Solutions*, 388 S.C. 394, 400, 697 S.E.2d 551, 554 (2010).

Additionally, when a claim is subject to the preponderance of the evidence standard, the non-moving party only needs to present a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

Furthermore, summary judgment is improper where credibility determinations are necessary or where evidence is subject to multiple reasonable interpretations. *Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 114, 410 S.E.2d at 545. Where the factual record is incomplete or material facts remain disputed, summary judgment must be denied to allow a jury to resolve those factual disputes.

The Circuit Court improperly granted summary judgment despite multiple genuine disputes of material fact requiring jury determination. It failed to consider evidence of Respondent McDuff's involvement in publishing defamatory statements and disregarded substantial proof of tortious interference. The court also overlooked clear evidence of damages, including financial losses and reputational harm. Credibility determinations regarding intent and malice should have been left to a jury. Furthermore, the court dismissed due process claims without full evidentiary development and issued its order without allowing Appellant to review the draft, violating

procedural fairness. Given these significant factual disputes, summary judgment must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a coordinated campaign of defamation and tortious interference orchestrated by Respondents Richard Hunt McDuff, MJM Law LLC, and *The Journal* Defendants, resulting in significant reputational and financial harm to Appellant Dorothy Pierce. The case is further marked by serious procedural irregularities, including Respondents drafting the summary judgment order, filing it with the court, and obtaining the judge's signature without serving Appellant a copy for review. Additionally, Respondents withheld key evidence under false claims of attorney-client privilege and failed to disclose the court's ruling to Appellant for months—effectively depriving her of the opportunity to challenge its findings.

Defamation Claim

Appellant's defamation claim stems from a series of false and damaging articles published by *The Journal* between March 4, 2022, and March 8, 2022, which falsely accused Appellant of engaging in criminal conduct, specifically vote-buying in Uganda. These allegations had already been discredited and rejected by the court when McDuff attempted to introduce them as evidence during an August 2, 2021, probate hearing. Rather than accepting the court's ruling, McDuff repackaged and supplied these same false allegations to *The Journal*, ensuring their publication through extensive pre-planned communications with journalist Riley Morningstar.

Despite clear documentary evidence linking McDuff to the sourcing, drafting, and ensuring publication of defamatory content, the Circuit Court erroneously granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents, concluding that McDuff did not "publish" the defamatory statements himself. This misapplies South Carolina defamation law, which holds that a defendant need not physically publish a statement to be liable if they directed, facilitated, or supplied defamatory content for publication.

Tortious Interference with Contract Claim

McDuff's deliberate interference with Appellant's business interests further forms the basis of this appeal. In July 2021, Appellant personally entered into an advertising contract with *The Journal* to promote her company, American Pharma Machinery, LLC. Appellant negotiated and funded the contract herself, with the advertisements featuring her name, image, and business identity, making it clear that the contract directly benefited her as an individual.

Upon seeing Appellant's picture in the advertisements, McDuff personally intervened, leveraging his influence over The Journal to have the contract terminated. Immediately following McDuff's direct involvement, The Journal discontinued Appellant's advertisements, causing substantial financial harm by cutting off her ability to market her business and leading to lost customer engagement and revenue.

The Circuit Court again erred in granting summary judgment, reasoning that the contract was between The Journal and Appellant's LLC, not Appellant personally, and therefore, Appellant lacked standing. This misinterprets established law, which holds that when an individual personally finances, negotiates, and is the primary beneficiary of a contract, they have standing to bring an interference claim.

Procedural Irregularities and Withholding of Evidence

In addition to substantive legal errors, this appeal also seeks to remedy significant procedural irregularities that compromised the fairness of the proceedings in the Circuit Court.

- i. Respondents Drafted the Circuit Court's Summary Judgment Order: The order granting summary judgment was entirely drafted by Respondents, rather than being an independent decision of the court. This raises serious due process concerns as it resulted in the adoption of Respondents' legal arguments without any judicial scrutiny.
- ii. Order Withheld from Appellant for Months: The Circuit Court's summary judgment ruling was not disclosed to Appellant until months after it was issued, depriving her of a timely opportunity to challenge its findings or to request reconsideration. This constitutes a clear violation of due process.
- iii. Respondents Withheld Key Evidence Under False Claims of Attorney-Client Privilege: Throughout discovery, Respondents deliberately withheld critical evidence, falsely claiming that certain communications and documents were protected under attorney-client privilege, when no such privilege applied. This intentional suppression of material evidence directly impacted Appellant's ability to oppose summary judgment. The concealed evidence would have further confirmed McDuff's role in directing and ensuring the publication of defamatory statements.

Notice of Appeal and Basis for Reversal

On May 3, 2024, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal, asserting that the Circuit Court erroneously granted summary judgment by failing to recognize:

- i. McDuff's direct involvement in the defamatory publications, despite overwhelming documentary evidence linking him to the drafting, sourcing, and publication of false statements.
- ii. McDuff's active interference with Appellant's advertising contract, despite evidence confirming that he personally pressured The Journal to terminate the contract.
- iii. Appellant's clear standing to bring both claims, as she personally negotiated and funded the advertising contract, and was the direct target of Respondents' defamatory and tortious conduct.
- iv. Respondents' intentional withholding of critical evidence under a false claim of attorney-client privilege, which deprived Appellant of key documentation supporting her claims.
- v. Procedural irregularities surrounding the Circuit Court's order, which was drafted by Respondents and withheld from Appellant for months, depriving her of a meaningful opportunity to challenge its findings.

Given these clear legal errors, suppression of evidence, and due process violations, the Circuit Court's ruling must be reversed. Appellant respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals overturn the summary judgment order and remand the case for trial, where a jury can properly assess the damages caused by Respondents' wrongful actions.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

History of the Dispute

The dispute between Appellant and Respondents arose from a long-standing legal and business relationship that ultimately deteriorated into a targeted effort to undermine Appellant's inheritance and business interests, orchestrated by Respondent Richard Hunt McDuff.

In June 2020, while her late husband, Doyle Elton Pierce, was still alive, Appellant leased a commercial property from Cornerstone of Greenville, LLC to operate a face mask manufacturing business. Respondents represented Cornerstone in the lease negotiations, and Appellant entered into the lease in her personal capacity, rather than through her company, American Pharma Machinery, LLC. The facility became the operational base of Appellant's business, which she personally funded and managed.

At the time of the lease execution, Respondent McDuff acted as a witness for Cornerstone, while Appellant's husband, Doyle Pierce, served as her witness, marking the beginning of a business relationship that would later unravel into legal disputes.

On July 7, 2020, Doyle Pierce executed a will that accurately reflected his longstanding inheritance discussions with all involved parties. He openly communicated his intentions regarding his estate, even personally showing his two sons—who would later become Respondents' clients—the specific land they were to inherit.

Following Doyle Pierce's passing on September 14, 2020, Appellant was appointed as Personal Representative (PR) of his estate on September 23, 2020. Shortly after, his estranged son, Jared Adam Pierce, hired Respondents to contest the will. Despite knowing that the will accurately reflected Doyle's true intentions, Respondents proceeded with a legal challenge, relying on fraudulent means to invalidate the will.

Fraudulent Invalidation of the Will

This case is inextricably linked to the fraudulent invalidation of the July 7, 2020, Last Will and Testament of Doyle Elton Pierce, which led to Appellant's wrongful removal as PR and subsequent legal battles.

To support the fraudulent claim of forgery, Respondent McDuff submitted a series of manipulated and forged signature exemplars, which were copied and pasted onto a single sheet

of paper instead of producing the original documents for verification. The so-called “evidence” consisted of outdated, unverifiable signatures, allegedly from as early as 1965, none of which were authenticated or properly examined.

A key document in this fraudulent scheme was a May 18, 2020, FEMA letter, which was indisputably forged by Jared Adam Pierce. Jared was not present on the date the letter was allegedly signed, and his wife, Sandra Pierce, later confirmed that Jared attempted to coerce her into falsely claiming that she had witnessed the decedent sign the letter. Sandra refused, stating that she had no recollection of such a document being executed, further exposing the fraudulent nature of the evidence used to contest the will.

Despite these obvious fabrications, the Probate Court relied on this fraudulent evidence to remove Appellant as PR on August 18, 2021. The decision was not based on any fiduciary misconduct but rather on deliberately falsified documents that were withheld from Appellant before trial, depriving her of due process and the opportunity to challenge their authenticity.

In a further procedural irregularity, Judge Kenneth Earl Johns denied Appellant’s motion for a new trial on his last day in office before his suspension became public, raising serious concerns about the legitimacy of his ruling.

Despite Appellant filing a timely appeal of the August 18, 2021, removal order, which automatically stayed her removal under South Carolina Rule 241(a), the Probate Court improperly appointed a Special Administrator, Adam Lee, in violation of the stay. The validity of the removal order, and the fraudulent evidence underpinning it, remains under review in the ongoing appeal (Case No. 2021-001552).

Respondents’ Use of Fraudulent Evidence for Defamation

Beyond their fraudulent legal maneuvers in probate court, Respondents escalated their campaign against Appellant by attempting to tarnish her public reputation through defamatory publications.

During an August 2, 2021, probate court hearing, Respondent McDuff sought to introduce an unverified article published by the Alliance for Campaign Finance Monitoring (ACFIM), which falsely accused Appellant of vote-buying in Uganda. The article contained a misleading photograph of Appellant holding money, which McDuff attempted to present as evidence of illegal conduct.

However, the court rejected McDuff's arguments, finding the claims irrelevant and unsubstantiated. Appellant explained that the funds in the photograph were used to provide water to a large crowd, not for any election-related activity. Having failed to introduce the defamatory allegations in court, Respondent McDuff then provided the article to *The Upstate Journal*, using the media as a tool for defamation.

Between March 4, 2022, and March 8, 2022, *The Journal* published a series of defamatory articles repeating McDuff's discredited allegations, falsely accusing Appellant of criminal misconduct in Uganda. These publications were not independently researched but rather directly orchestrated by McDuff through coordinated email exchanges with journalist Riley Morningstar.

The court's initial rejection of these claims underscores McDuff's deliberate intent to defame Appellant, shifting from failed legal arguments to a targeted smear campaign through the press.

This pattern of fraudulent conduct—first in probate court, then through defamatory publications—demonstrates Respondents' intent to systematically undermine Appellant's reputation and business interests. The Probate Court's reliance on fabricated evidence resulted in the wrongful removal of Appellant as PR, a matter that remains under appeal. Meanwhile, Respondent McDuff's deliberate efforts to repurpose discredited allegations into defamatory media publications further highlight his active role in harming Appellant's reputation.

This coordinated legal and media attack lies at the heart of the present appeal, necessitating a full review of the fraudulent means used by Respondents to invalidate the will and smear Appellant through false public allegations.

Respondents' Direct Role in the Defamation of Appellant

Respondent McDuff played a pivotal role in the defamation campaign against Appellant by actively coordinating with media outlets, supplying defamatory content, and facilitating direct connections between reporters and individuals willing to provide incriminating statements against Appellant.

Following the August 2, 2021, probate trial, Respondent McDuff actively sought to disseminate the discredited article that had been excluded from court proceedings. Within days, he arranged a lunch meeting with Respondent Jerry Edwards, proprietor of *The Journal* newspaper, with the intent to spread false and damaging information about the Appellant. During his deposition on

October 4, 2023, Respondent McDuff admitted initiating this meeting and explicitly discussing the Appellant, acknowledging that he intended to share the information for publication.

Respondent Richard McDuff and his law firm, MJM Law, LLC, serve as legal representatives for Edwards Group LLC. However, Respondents do not represent The Upstate Journal or Oconee Publishing, as it is an employee-owned company. This distinction is critical because Respondents also did not represent Respondent Riley Morningstar, who was an employee-owner of The Upstate Journal and not a client of MJM Law, LLC.

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