RECEIVED

Mar 07 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS**

**R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge
Common Pleas Case No. 2022-CP-37-00182**

Appellate Case No. 2024-000739

Dorothy Pierce,

Appellant,

v.

Richard Hunt McDuff; MJM Law LLC,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Charles A. Kinney
SC Bar No. 77635
Kenan G. Loomis
(Admitted pro hac vice)
COZEN O'CONNOR
301 South College Street, Suite 2100
Charlotte, NC 28202
P: (704) 348-3471
E: cakinney@cozen.com
E: kloomis@cozen.com
*Attorneys for Richard Hunt McDuff
and MJM Law, LLC*

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

ARGUMENT

Introduction

This case is the continuation of Appellant’s vendetta against Respondents to cover her own misdeeds and to explain her failed businesses. She also seeks retaliation for her removal as the personal representative of her late husband’s estate. Respondents serve as outside counsel for the co-defendants (the “Journal Defendants”). Respondents were also retained to represent one of Appellant’s stepsons in a probate matter which resulted in the Probate Court concluding Appellant’s late husband’s Will had been forged and was hence invalid. Appellant was removed as the personal representative.³ During this same time, Mr. McDuff learned that a lawsuit had been

³ The matter was on appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals in case number 2021-001552, however Appellant dismissed same pursuant to SCACR 260(b) via this Court’s Order dated February 25, 2025. The Trial Court was authorized to take judicial notice of these probate proceedings in determining Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment. *Ellis v. Cates*, 178 F.2d 791(4th Cir. 1949). South Carolina looks to the construction placed upon the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure upon which the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure are based. *Gardner v. Newsome Chevrolet–Buick, Inc.*, 304 S .C. 328, 330, 404 S.E.2d 200, 201 (1991).

filed by one of Appellant's customers, Firewalker Hot Sauce, alleging she had breached their contract and was participating in questionable campaign activity in Uganda. To protect the assets of the currently embattled estate, a portion of which had been bequeathed to the Appellant's companies in the forged Will, Mr. McDuff and his client intervened in this lawsuit. Unhappy with the outcome of the probate matter, the *Firewalker* lawsuit, and the media coverage of her various misdeeds published by the Journal Newspaper, Appellant filed the instant action. It was originally brought in five counts, only three of which concerned the Respondents. On July 14, 2022, the Trial Court granted the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss Appellant's claims of gross negligence, discrimination, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Only her defamation and interference with contractual interests claims remained on which the Trial Court granted Respondents' Summary Judgment Motion on April 2, 2024. That Order was correct and should be affirmed.

The defamation claim fails because there is no evidence Respondents made any defamatory statements. Appellant even conceded in her deposition that the statements were made by others. Second, Appellant did not and cannot prove actual malice, fault, unprivileged publications, materially false publications, or damages – all elements of a defamation claim.

The Appellant's interference with contractual interests claim fails because she had no contract with The Journal for the advertising of her business' products. As she admits, this alleged contract was in the name of one of her businesses, a separate and distinct LLC. Appellant thus lacks standing to bring such a claim. This claim also fails because there is no evidence Respondents induced The Journal to discontinue advertising Appellant's business' products. The Journal made this decision on its own. Appellant also cannot prove the damages element of an interference with contract claim.

Summary Judgment for the Respondents was therefore appropriate and should be AFFIRMED.

Factual Background⁴

The Underlying Litigation

This case stems from three separate but related legal proceedings involving the Appellant, each of which is or was pending before the Court of Common Pleas for Oconee County or the District Court of South Carolina.

1. The Pierce Estate Proceedings

In September 2020, after the death of her husband,⁵ Appellant proffered Doyle Pierce's purported Last Will and Testament, naming herself as the Personal Representative of the Estate. See Exhibit "3" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum- Aug. 18, 2021 Order ¶¶ 1-3, *In re Pierce*, No. 2020-ES-37-00532. The purported Will made bequests to two companies owned by Appellant, "Intercontinental Alternative Medicine, LLC" and "American Pharma Machinery, LLC." *Id.* ¶¶ 12-13.⁶ The purported Will left the remainder of Doyle Pierce's estate to his widow, Appellant. *Id.* ¶ 14.

⁴ Appellant's "Factual Background" is found on pages 11-24 of her Brief. There is not a single reference to the record in these 13 pages, in violation of Rule 208(b)(1)(E).

⁵ Appellant was 34 years old when she married Mr. Pierce, who was 72 years old. They were married from 2018, until Mr. Pierce's death in September 2020. Previously, she had been married to Mr. William Wells, whom she married on May 26 or 27, 2017, at age 34 when he was 77 (Pierce Depo. p. 38, ln. 19-24). Mr. Wells died on November 20, 2017, just six months later. (Pierce Dep. p. 453, ln. 19-22). In an email dated August 14, 2017, to his children of a prior marriage Mr. Wells stated, "Marrying Dorothy was to help Dorothy get the Green Card she needed to stay and care for me until my demise." (Pierce Dep. p. 39, ln. 11-20; p. 40, ln. 24-p.41, ln. 5; Dep. Ex. "3" attached as Exhibit "1" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum). All of Appellant's deposition testimony is attached as Exhibit "2" to its Summary Judgment Memorandum.

⁶ Appellant is the sole Member of both LLC's (Pierce Dep. p. 67, ln. 25-p.68, ln. 3; p. 93, ln. 5-11).

Jared Pierce, represented by Mr. Richard Hunt McDuff, filed a motion in the Oconee County Probate Court to determine the validity of his father's purported Last Will and Testament. *Id.* at 1. After analysis by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") and the testimony of the two purported witnesses to the challenged Will, the Probate Court concluded that Doyle Pierce's purported Will was "invalid." *Id.* at 8. Further, because Appellant "possessed the invalid Will and presented it to the Court, an inference arises that she has knowledge that the Will is a forgery." *Id.* at 8. The Probate Court thus held that Appellant "must be removed as Personal Representative as not fit for the office." *Id.*

Appellant filed an appeal of the Probate Court's decision with the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas, arguing among other things, that the Probate Court "[i]ntentionally discriminated against [her] based on race, color and national origin," and that "it's absolutely cruel for the probate Court to taint the reputation of [Appellant] for having knowledge the will was forged and yet the Will is Valid and Authentic." *See* Exhibit "4" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum-Appeal Br. at 13, 19, *Pierce v. Pierce*, No. 2021-CP-37-00560. The Court of Common Pleas (Maddox, J.) denied that appeal, "find[ing] that there is sufficient evidence to support the Probate Court's ruling and findings." *See* Exhibit "5" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum - Dec. 29, 2021 Order, *Pierce v. Pierce*. Although Appellant contended Mr. McDuff "orchestrated" the entire proceeding (Pierce Dep. p. 183, ln. 14-20), she dismissed her suit pursuant to SCACR 260(b) via this Court's Order dated February 25, 2025.

2. The Firewalker Action

On February 24, 2021, Firewalker Hot Sauce Company, LLC ("Firewalker") filed an Amended Complaint in the Oconee County Court of Common Pleas against American Pharma Machinery, LLC, its owner – Appellant, identified in the case caption as "Dorothy Wells a/k/a Dorothy Alweny a/k/a Queen Dorothy Amolo" – and the Estate of Doyle Pierce. *See* Exhibit "6"

to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum - Am. Compl., *Firewalker Hot Sauce Co., LLC v. American Pharma Machinery, LLC*, No. 2021-CP-37-00149. Jared Pierce moved to intervene in the case, seeking "to protect the interests of the [Doyle Pierce] Estate along with those of the other heirs" and arguing that Appellant was "not lawfully authorized to file pleadings on behalf of the Estate" following the Probate Court's decision removing her as Personal Representative. *See* Exhibit "7" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum - Mot. for Intervention, *Firewalker Hot Sauce Co., LLC v. American Pharma Machinery, LLC*. The Court (Maddox, J.) granted the motion to intervene on October 20, 2021.

3. Pierce v. Clements Electrical, et al.

On January 19, 2022, Appellant filed a pro se Complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina against Clements Electrical, Inc., several Clements Electrical employees, several of her own former employees, and Jared Pierce, as well as Jared Pierce's attorney, Richard McDuff, and his law firm Merrell, Jahn & McDuff. *See* Exhibit "8" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum, Compl., *Pierce v. Clements Electrical, Inc.*, No. 22-cv-175-TMC. Appellant asserted claims against the defendants for discrimination, unjust enrichment, intentional infliction of emotional distress ("IIED"), breach of contract, tortious interference, and defamation, among others. *Id.* at *5-6. For these claims, Appellant demanded "money damages in excess of 90 million dollars." *Id.* at *6. Pursuant to the District Court's procedures, U.S. Magistrate Judge Kevin F. McDonald made "a careful review" of Appellant's pro se Complaint "to ensure that subject matter jurisdiction exists and that [the] case is not frivolous." *Id.* That review resulted in a recommendation that Appellant's Complaint be dismissed because "the elaborate conspiracy described by the plaintiff in support of her [discrimination] claim finds no basis in law or fact to support federal proceedings." Further, the Magistrate Court stated:

“[m]oreover, the plaintiff’s allegations that the defendants are conspiring to ruin her appear based upon a personal animus related to the disposition of the estate of the plaintiff’s husband, not a racial animus, and the plaintiff’s conclusory assertions of pretext fail to save her § 1981 claim. *Griffith v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, C/A No. 2:12-cv-00239-DCN, 2012 WL 2048200, at *1 (D.S.C. June 6, 2012) (finding that the plausibility standard requires more than “an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusation.”) (quoting *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)).

Pierce v. Clements Electrical et al, No. 8:22-CV-00175-TCM-KFM, 2022 WL 677289 at *4 (D.S.C., Feb. 4, 2022).

Magistrate Judge McDonald recommended that the dismissal be without automatic leave to amend, citing case law for the proposition that when a plaintiff’s complaint is “preposterous and frivolous,” it is “a waste of limited judicial resources to give [her] an opportunity to amend.” *Id.* at *4 (internal marks omitted). Appellant did not object to that Report & Recommendation which U.S. District Judge Timothy M. Cain adopted in full, thereby dismissing the Complaint without prejudice. *Pierce v. Clements Elec., Inc.*, No. 8:22-CV-175-TMC, 2022 WL 673832 at *1 (D.S.C. Mar. 7, 2022).

The Subject Lawsuit

On March 15, 2022, Appellant filed the original Complaint in this case, which she amended on March 17, 2022. *See* Exhibit “9” to Respondents’ Summary Judgment Memorandum - The Amended Complaint. On July 14, 2022, the Trial Court dismissed all of Plaintiff’s claims save the defamation and intentional contractual interference claims, finding only that these claims had been sufficiently pled.

1. The Defamation Claim

When asked in discovery to identify each and every fact on which she bases her contention that Respondents defamed her, Appellant referred to her “Amended Complaint and other pleadings on file for all defamatory statements made by Defendants McDuff and Defendant MJM, Law,

LLC.” (Plaintiff’s Amended Response to Defendants’ First Interrogatories, No. 6, attached as Ex. “10” to Respondents’ Summary Judgment Memorandum). When deposed on this Interrogatory Response, Appellant testified that the defamatory comments on which her defamation claim is premised are found in her Amended Complaint and other pleadings on file (Pierce Dep. p. 101, ln. 23-p. 102, ln. 5). She then identified paragraphs 45, 46 & 47 of her Amended Complaint as referencing three defamatory publications which appeared in The Journal newspaper on which her defamation claim is based, for which Mr. McDuff is purportedly responsible (Pierce Dep. p. 106, ln. 8-12). She also contends that Mr. McDuff provided the Journal with a news report published by the Ugandan Alliance for Finance Monitoring (“ACFIM”) and “pushed for it to be published by his friends” / “made it to be published” which is a defamatory act (Pierce Dep. p. 130, ln. 23-p. 131, ln. 6; p. 132, ln. 1-6).⁷ According to Appellant, these articles constitute the “universe” of defamatory publications attributed to respondents (Pierce Dep. p. 107, ln. 4-8).⁸

(a) The ACFIM News Report

The ACFIM news report, published March 17, 2021, depicts Appellant at a Ugandan political rally holding up bundles of cash (Pierce Dep. p. 131, ln. 21-p. 132, ln. 1-6). It states she “moved with bundles of UGX 1,000 notes which she would first parade to the electorate convening on her campaign rallies before giving it out to be shared among everyone present.” This news report was published before Mr. McDuff had ever met Appellant, that meeting occurring at the August 2,

⁷ The ACFIM article is attached as Exhibit “11” to Respondents’ Summary Judgment Memorandum.

⁸ Appellant testified she discovered other allegedly defamatory publications, but they are not part of her lawsuit (Pierce Dep. p. 107, ln. 9-11).

2021, probate hearing (McDuff Dep. p. 13, ln. 11-13).⁹ There is no allegation in this suit that Mr. McDuff was the source of this Article's content. Instead, Mr. McDuff simply advised Jerry Edwards¹⁰ of the probate trial in which Mr. Pierce's Will was determined to be a forgery. (McDuff Dep. p. 45, ln. 10- 20). The Journal reporter, Riley Morningstar, then contacted Mr. McDuff to whom Mr. McDuff provided the ACFIM news report which was on the internet (McDuff Dep. p. 196, ln. 13-18). Neither Mr. McDuff nor anyone at his law firm requested, encouraged, demanded, advised, proposed, or suggested that The Journal publish anything about the ACFIM news report (Morningstar Aff'd. ¶ 20, attached as Exhibit "14" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum). Appellant even admits this news report was in the public domain when it was brought to Mr. Morningstar's attention (Pierce Dep. p. 130, ln. 19-22).

(b) The March 4, 2022, "Passing Out Cash" News Report

On March 4, 2022, The Journal published a news report entitled, "Report: Queen Passed Out Cash During Uganda Campaign" authored by The Journal reporter Riley Morningstar.¹¹ This news report paraphrased, and sometimes quoted, the ACFIM news report concerning Appellant's

⁹ All of Mr. McDuff's deposition testimony referenced herein is in Exhibit "12" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum.

¹⁰ Mr. Edwards is the CEO of Edwards Group Holdings and a publisher for / employee of Ocone Publishing, which is wholly owned by Edwards Group Holdings (Edwards Dep, p. 10, ln. 22-p.11, ln. 9; p. 25, ln. 20-p.26, ln. 3; p. 34, ln. 4-7). Edwards Group Holdings is an employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP") which owns The Journal (Edwards Dep. p. 11, ln. 3-4; McDuff Dep. p. 18, ln. 4-15). Mr. Edwards' testimony referenced herein is attached as Exhibit "13" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum.

¹¹ This Article is attached hereto as Exhibit "15" to Respondents' Summary Judgment Memorandum. The green highlighting constitutes the language which Appellant contends is defamatory and attributable to Mr. McDuff (Pierce Dep. p. 127, ln. 19-22).

alleged passing out of cash during campaign rallies (Pierce Dep. p. 147, ln. 1-10).¹² When deposed, Appellant conceded on multiple occasions that Mr. McDuff was not the source of the information contained in this news report (Pierce Dep. p. 129, ln. 3- p.130, ln 4; p. 131, ln. 21- p. 132, ln. 6; p. 140, ln. 10-24). She confessed that she is unaware of any email, text message or other written communication from Mr. McDuff stating Appellant was handing out money at her campaign rallies, or otherwise attributing him as the source of the information contained in this news report (Pierce Dep. p. 143, ln. 4-12). Instead, this news report quoted verbatim the ACFIM news report (Pierce Dep. p. 143, ln. 13-19). The March 4, 2022, news report was principally based on Mr. Morningstar’s interview with Appellant and the ACFIM news report, not on his discussions with Mr. McDuff. (Morningstar Aff’d ¶ 25).

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